### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,551

## PAUL WILLIAM SCOTT,

Appellant,

v.

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN
Litigation Director
Florida Bar No. 0754773
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
1533 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 487-4376
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial after evidentiary of Mr. Scott's motions for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 17, 1994, after hearing oral argument regarding the issues raised in Mr. Scott's 3.850 motion, this Court entered a stay of execution. On March 16, 1995, this Court issued an opinion remanding Mr. Scott's case to the Circuit Court for an evidentiary hearing, specifically on Mr. Scott's claim that either the State failed to disclose or the defense failed to discover the following: "(1) a statement by Dexter Coffin, a cellmate of Scott's codefendant Richard Kondian, in which Coffin states he told a police officer that Kondian admitted killing the victim; (2) a statement by Robert Dixon, in which Dixon states he told a police officer that Kondian was angry with Scott for running out on him at the murder scene; and (3) a medical examiner's photograph that suggested that Kondian had struck the fatal blow by hitting Alessi on the head with a champagne bottle. "Scott v. State, 657 So. 2d 1129, 1130 (Fla. 1995). This Court also directed the Circuit Court to address public records claims raised by Mr. Scott. Id. at 1132 n. 3. Rehearing was denied on July 20, 1995.

On remand Mr. Scott's case went to the Honorable Edward A. Garrison, the judge who had been assigned to Division "W" of the Circuit Court of Palm Beach County when Judge Lupo who presided over Mr. Scott's case in 1994 transferred to the General Trial Division. However, on August 29, 1995, Judge Garrison entered an Order of Recusal (PC-R2. 1084), and Mr. Scott's case was reassigned to Division "T" (PC-R2. 1084).

<sup>&#</sup>x27;It is unclear from the record whether Mr. Scott's case was assigned to Division "T" or Division "U." In an order, dated September 22, 1995, Judge Carlisle states that Mr. Scott's case had been assigned to Division "T." However, the style of the order indicates that Judge Carlisle sits in Division "U" (PC-R2 1091).

On September 13, 1995, Mr. Scott filed a Motion to Transfer Case To Original Post-Conviction Judge, stating that judicial economy would be best effected were Mr. Scott's case transferred back to Judge Mary Lupo, the circuit judge who had heard Mr. Scott's motion for postconviction relief in November of 1994 (1088- 1090). On September 22, 1995, Judge Carlisle of Division "U" denied Mr. Scott's motion to transfer (PC-R2. 1091-1092). Copies of this order, which clearly indicated that Mr. Scott's case had been reassigned to Division "T," were sent to Celia Terenzio of the Attorney General's Office and to Ken Selvig of the West Palm Beach State Attorney's Office (PC-R;!. 1092).

On October 2, 1995, the Honorable Roger B. Colton, circuit judge of Division "T," entered an Order of Recusal (PC-R2.1093), and on October 5, 1996, Mr. Scott's case was reassigned to the Honorable Marvin U. Mounts in Division "S" (PC-R2. 1093). As before, copies of this order were sent to Celia Terenzio and Ken Selvig, and the order recognized Martin J. McClain as sole counsel for Mr. Scott (PC-R2. 1093).

On October 10, 1995, State Attorney Ken Selvig filed a Notice of Intent to Interview Jurors, indicating that the purpose of said interviews was to "reconstruct the record to determine the count by which the jury voted to recommend the death penalty." (PC-R2. 1094). Copies of this notice were sent to the judge for Division "W" (long since recused) and to Judith Dougherty (an attorney no longer employed by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative)<sup>2</sup> (PC-R2. 1094). The notice was sent by regular mail and did

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Ms. Dougherty had been an attorney with CCR in 1994 who worked on Mr. Scott's case as second chair to Mr. McClain. She resigned her position at CCR effective December 15, 1994.

not reach the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative until October 13, 1995.

Affidavits filed with the circuit court by the state months later would reveal that the state had conducted at least one of these jury interviews on October 10, 1995, the day the notice was signed by Mr. Selvig which was three days prior to the time Mr. Scott was served with the notice (PC-R2. 13351336).

On October 17, 1995, undersigned counsel filed an Objection To Interview Of Jurors By The State in Division "S" based on the state's failure to allege or state any reason for its belief that the verdict was subject to legal challenge pursuant to the mandate of Rule 4-3.5 of the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct (PC-R2. 1095-1096). Mr. Scott requested that, pursuant to Rule 4-3.5, the state refrain from interviewing jurors until it had provided appropriate grounds for doing so and until a hearing had been held (PC-R2. 1096).

On November 1, 1995, The Honorable Marvin Mounts issued an order requesting that both Mr. Scott and the State submit a "chronology of the essential events since the conviction and to recommend matters that need to be considered at the next hearing." (PC-R2. 1103-1104). Judge Mounts also asked both parties to respond as to "why an original file was microfilmed and apparently discarded when it was still active and to how it should be maintained now, including the several notes that have been stuck or attached to pleadings recently," (PC-R2.1103). The order ended with the following statement: "This document concludes with the complex rhetorical question: Does the State as the advocate or clerk as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Undersigned counsel draws this Court's attention to the upper right hand corner of the copy of the Notice of Intent to Interview Jurors contained in the record on appeal (PC-R2 1094). The copy of the notice served upon Judith Dougherty indicated that it had been filed in Division "W." It appears that the notice as filed has been tampered with,

record keeper and caseload equalizer have any interest anent the **recusal** incidence in this case?" (PC-R2. 1103). This order recognized Martin J. McClain as sole counsel for Mr. Scott (PC-R2. 1104)

On November 14, 1995, the State filed a Response To Order Of November 1, 1995 (PC-R2. 1105-1109). This response stated the evidentiary hearing, which the State requested take place prior to December 15, 1995, should address the question of whether the state violated Bradv v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) by failing to disclose statements of Dexter Coffin and Robert Dixon and by failing to disclose the existence of a crime scene photograph of a circle of blood to the defense (PC-R;!. 1107-1108). The State's response also maintained that the issue of the jury vote to recommend death would be a relevant issue at the hearing (PC-R2. 1108). This response recognized Martin J. McClain as sole counsel for Mr. Scott (PC-R2. 1109).

Also on November 14, 1995, undersigned counsel, Martin J. McClain, filed a response to the November 1, 1995 order (PC-R2. 1110-113 1). Undersigned counsel attached a copy of this Court's July 20, 1995 opinion to his response, and indicated that in addition to those questions related to <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, this Court had ordered that any public records claims raised by Mr. Scott should be addressed (PC-R2. 1110). Mr. Scott also requested that he be allowed to conduct an investigation of any inappropriate manipulation of the case assignment process which may have occurred prior to any further activity in Mr. Scott's case (PC-R2. 1111). Additionally, undersigned counsel notified Judge Mounts that he had been ordered by this Court to give top priority to Jerry White, a client scheduled for execution on

December 1, 1995, and that he was therefore requesting additional time to conduct this investigation and to update his response (PC-R2. 1111).

On November 17, 1995, undersigned counsel learned through Robert Hesse, Judge Mounts' judicial assistant, that pursuant to the state's request, an evidentiary hearing would be scheduled for December 14, 1995. On November 17, 1995, undersigned counsel, Martin J. McClain, sent a letter to Judge Mounts, copied to the state, which outlined the reasons for his inability to prepare for a hearing on December 14, 1995. Specifically, Mr. McClain informed Judge Mounts that he was currently litigating Jerry White's case under warrant, and that he had been directed to turn his full attention toward the representation of Mr. White by this Court. The letter also informed Judge Mounts that the state had ignored issues which needed to resolved in its November 14, 1995 response, and that it had underestimated the length of time needed for the evidentiary hearing.' After Judge Mounts had received the letter, Robert Hesse informed Mary K. Anderson Mills that the December 14, 1995 hearing would be continued only if the State were to agree.

Accordingly, undersigned counsel, through Mary K. Anderson Mills, contacted Ken Selvig and requested that he agree to a continuance of the hearing, Mr. Selvig agreed to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Mary Anderson Mills, an assistant CCR, actually spoke to Mr. Hesse because of Mr. McClain's unavailability. Mr. McClain was, at that time, litigating Jerry White's case under warrant in Orlando. Mr. McClain was lead counsel on that case. <u>See White v. Singletary</u>, 663 So. 2d 1324 (Fla. 1995). Mr. White was executed on December 4, 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Mr. Scott filed a motion to supplement the record with this letter, which did not appear in the original record filed with this Court. In its Supplemental Record, the Palm Beach County Circuit Clerk's Office notes that it did not receive the letter in question. Mr. Scott is therefore filing a copy of Mr. McClain's letter with this brief. <u>See</u> Appellant's Supplement. A motion to Supplement the Record with this letter has also been filed with this Court.

continuance, but only if the hearing were to be rescheduled in January. Mary K. Anderson Mills again contacted Mr. Hesse regarding the state's position, but was informed that there would be no need to file a motion for continuance, as the hearing had never been set. A notice of agreed order was filed and the evidentiary hearing was thereafter set by the court for January 23, 1996 (PC-R2, 1132-1134).

On December 18, 1995, Mr. Scott mailed for filing an Amended Response To Order Of November 1, 1995, And To The State's Response Dated November 13, 1995. This motion repeated Mr. Scott's request that an investigation be conducted or that a hearing be conducted regarding the condition and destruction of the files in Mr. Scott's case (PC-R2. 1142-1146). On December 19, 1995, Mr. Scott filed a Motion to Disqualify State Attorney Ken Selvig from further representation of the State pursuant to Rule 4-3.7 of the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct and the "witness-advocate" rule. State v. Christopher, 623 So. 2d 1228, 1229 (1993)(PC-R2. 1138-1141). Mr. Scott also filed a Motion to Permit Discovery pursuant to Lewis v. State, 656 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 1995), requesting that he be allowed to take Mr. Selvig's deposition (PC-R2. 1135-1137). On December 22, 1995, the State filed a Response which opposed Mr. Scott's Motion to Disqualify Ken Selvig and to Permit Discovery on the grounds that it was legally insufficient (PC-R2. 1147-115 1). The State described Mr. Scott's motion as "a futile attempt to delay justice and deprive the state of representation by the most qualified person to handle this case," (PC-R2. 1150). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Inexplicably, this motion was not file-stamped by the clerk's office until December 27, 1996.

State noted that "Mr. Selvig has been the lead prosecutor in this case for the past seventeen years. Scott's veiled attempts to disrupt that continuity must fail." (PC-R2. 1150).

On December 27, 1995, a hearing was held regarding Mr. Scott's motions to disqualify Ken Selvig and to permit discovery and the state's response to those motions (PC-TR. 1-44). Also heard was argument regarding the state's notice of intent to interview jurors. During the hearing, Mr. Selvig informed Judge Mounts that his sole purpose for conducting these interviews was to dispute the factual finding by this Court that the jury vote for death was seven to five (PC-TR. 30). Assistant State Attorney Selvig admitted that he had already interviewed "a number of jurors." (PC-TR. 31). Mr. Selvig concealed from the Court and opposing counsel the fact that they had conducted at least one of these interviews on October 10, 1995, the day they had filed the notice and three days before undersigned counsel received it. Judge Mounts thereafter made the following statements regarding the jury interviews:

. . . it's always been my practice, at least in old Division S whenever the need in other cases has arisen to interview any jurors, I have, oh, I think consistently denied the opportunity of the defense or the State to do it in camera and required that it be done in open court and on the record.

And when I saw your notice to interview jurors I assumed apparently wrongly, incorrectly rather that we would, if it ever got to the stage were they were to be interviewed and after hearing from the defense interview them in due process venue with a Court and court reporter and clerk., .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>**As** the state had chosen to serve its response on Mr. Scott by regular mail, Mr. Scott's counsel did not receive and did not have the opportunity to read the response until the day of hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Although State Attorney Selvig indicated that he had "consulted with the Florida Bar ethics attorneys," it seems doubtful that such advice would have been given him (PC-TR. 30).

(PC-TR. 31-32).

On January 5, 1996, the Court signed an order that the state had proposed on December 28, 1996, which denied Mr. Scott's Motion to Disqualify Ken Selvig and Motion to Permit Discovery (PC-R2. 1152-A). Mr. Scott subsequently filed a petition for writ of prohibition from this ruling to this Court. The writ was subsequently denied by this Court on January 22, 1996 (PC-R2. 1248).

In preparing for the January 23, 1996 hearing, it came to the attention of undersigned counsel that two of Mr. Scott's material witnesses, Dexter Coffin and Robert Dixon, were outside the jurisdiction of this Court and would be unavailable for the January 23, 1996 hearing, as Mr. Dixon was on parole in the State of California and Mr. Coffin was incarcerated in the State of Virginia. On January 10, 1996, immediately upon making this determination, a motion to take the depositions of Dexter Coffin and Robert Dixon in order to perpetuate their testimony was filed. This was pursuant to Rule 3.190(j), Fla. R. Crim. P.9 (PC-R2. 1161-1163). On January 11, 1996, undersigned counsel was informed by Judge

the defendant or the state may apply for an order to perpetuate testimony. The application shall be verified or supported by the affidavits of credible persons that a prospective witness resides beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the court or may be unable to attend or be prevented from attending a trial or hearing, that the witnesses' testimony is material, and that it is necessary to take the deposition to prevent a failure of justice. The court shall order a commission to be issued to take the deposition of the witnesses to be used in the trial and that any designated books, papers, documents, or tangible objects, not privileged be produced at the same time and place. If the application is made within 10 days before the trial date, the court may deny the application.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Rule 3.190(j) provides in pertinent part:

Mounts' judicial assistant that Judge Mounts had no time to hear the motion in advance of January 23, 1996. Accordingly, a motion to continue was filed because of Judge Mounts' inability to find time to hear the pending motion. Judge Mounts then found time to hear the motions on January 18, 1996.

At the hearing on Mr. Scott's motion for continuance and motion to take depositions, the State opposed these motions, claiming that Dexter Coffin and Robert Dixon did not have relevant testimony to give. Specifically,

THE COURT: You say that is a condition precedent?

MR. SELVIG: Absolutely.

According to Mr. Selvig, undersigned counsel could not present the testimony of either Coffin or Dixon unless he proved without resorting to their testimony that Mr. Selvig had failed to disclose their pretrial statements to Mr Scott's trial counsel (PC-TR. 55).

Thereupon, Judge Mounts denied Mr. Scott's motion to take depositions to perpetuate testimony (PC-TR. 63). The Court also denied Mr. Scott's motion for continuance (PC-TR. 63). Judge Mounts left Mr. Scott with two working days prior to the evidentiary hearing, making it impossible for undersigned counsel to obtain the testimony of Dexter Coffin or Robert Dixon, who were both beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the circuit court.

During the January 18, 1996 hearing, Ken Selvig made the following admission regarding statements made by Dexter Coffin, which were the substance of the **Brady** claim in Mr. Scott's case:

The substance of the statement was never disclosed because we in the prosecutor's office at that point in time gave no credence to Mr. Coffin's statements, had he made one. "

(PC-TR. 57).

Also during the January 18, 1996 hearing, Judge Mounts informed Mary Anderson, whom undersigned counsel had assigned as second chair to cover the hearing, that he, Judge Mounts, was well-acquainted with defense witness Dexter Coffin, and specifically directed Mr. Scott's counsel to investigate this matter (PC-TR. 47-48). Based on Judge Mounts' directive, undersigned counsel attempted to conduct an investigation into the matter of Judge Mounts' familiarity with Dexter Coffin in the two business days remaining prior to the January 23, 1996 hearing,

Through investigation, it became immediately apparent to undersigned counsel that Judge Mounts had been directly involved with Dexter Coffin and officials such as Captain Jack Donnelly at the Palm Beach County Jail during the very time period that Richard Kondian made the statements to Dexter Coffin which are the subject of Mr. Scott's evidentiary hearing. An inspection of Mr. Coffin's criminal files indicated that he had been sentenced by and indeed corresponded with, Judge Mounts during this time period. However, further investigation was impossible due to the fact that Mr. Coffin's criminal files had been destroyed with the exception of the index forms. Therefore, the only individual who could have provided information regarding this matter was Judge Mounts himself.

Because of this newly discovered information, which created a fear in **Mr**. Scott's mind that he would not receive a full and fair hearing from Judge Mounts, undersigned counsel filed motions to disqualify Judge Mounts, and an accompanying motion to depose Judge Mounts regarding his involvement with Dexter Coffin (**PC-R2**. 1174-1197; 1198-1209; 1244-1247). On January 23, 1996, argument was heard on these motions, and on an amended motion to disqualify Judge Mounts which contained updated information

undersigned counsel had been able to obtain after the motion to disqualify had been filed. (PC-TR. 70-106). Undersigned counsel, Martin J. McClain, appeared at this hearing as lead counsel, and conducted all aspects of the hearing and case. At that time, undersigned counsel set forth in detail the information he had obtained regarding Judge Mounts' involvement with Dexter Coffin, including additional information he had received regarding a Roger Beach, an individual who had threatened Judge Mounts and whom Dexter Coffin informed against (PC-TR. 99). Undersigned counsel also informed Judge Mounts that Attorney David Roth had given him new information relevant to the disqualification motion earlier that morning (PC-TR, 75-76). Undersigned counsel sought an opportunity to reduce the new information to writing. Judge Mounts refuse to disqualify himself and refused to grant undersigned counsel the continuance he requested to conduct a further investigation into the matter. Judge Mounts refused to allow even a brief recess as specifically mandated in Rogers v. State, 630 So. 2d 5 13 (Fla. 1993), despite undersigned counsel's specific reference to Rogers (PC-TR. 75, 106). 10

The evidentiary hearing was thereafter commenced. Judge Mounts had denied Mr. Scott's previously filed Motion to Disqualify Ken Selvig and to take his deposition, based on his role as a witness in Mr. Scott's case. In the same vein, Judge Mounts refused to follow the rule regarding sequestration of witnesses and refused to exclude Ken Selvig from the Courtroom during the testimony of other witnesses (PC-TR. 127-128). Thus, undersigned counsel was forced to call Ken Selvig as his first witness (PC-TR. 136).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Undersigned counsel continued to investigate this matter to the best of his ability. On January 26, 1996, undersigned counsel filed a second amended motion to disqualify Judge Mounts with additional information he had obtained.

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