IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL WILLIAM SCOTT,)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	Case No. 88,551
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	
)	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0656879
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

The court then addressed the state's pending motion to

¹² An evidentiary hearing on Roberts' motion to vacate his prior convictions was set for March 22, 1996. However, Roberts was set to be executed in late February 1996. (R 1525).

¹³ Transcripts of that hearing, totaling 14 pages, reveal that no such transformation occurred. (R 1524-1537).

 $^{^{14}}$ It is the denial of this motion to continue that Scott challenges in this appeal.

preclude Scott's "materiality" witnesses. After hearing argument, the Court granted the state's motion. (T 311-318). See Issue VI, The hearing concluded with the understanding that the evidentiary portion of the case would resume as scheduled on February 14, 1996. However, Mr. McClain did not appear at the hearing, as he had indicated he would not. Moreover, he had failed to have Mr. Scott returned to the circuit for the hearing. 15 Mary Anderson did appear, but as Mr. McClain had promised, she refused to participate in the hearing, claiming that she was unprepared and incompetent to conduct the hearing. (T 338-341, 355). discussion and argument regarding the necessity of appellant's presence vel non, the court addressed the question of Ms. Anderson's involvement/knowledge about the case. The record indicated that Ms. Anderson had been involved with this case since at least March of 1994. (T 340). She has filed substantive pleadings in this case, argued motions without co-counsel's presence, attended the first portion of the evidentiary hearing, and took the deposition of Robert Dixon. (T 341-345, 346-353). Ultimately, the Court concluded that the hearing should proceed: (T 338-351).

Since Mr. McClain had indicated at the close of the prior

¹⁵ Scott's counsel had secured by motion Scott's presence at the initial hearing. (R 1156, see exhibit A). At the end of the hearing, the trial court gave Scott's counsel the option of having Scott remain in the county jail until the next hearing or having him returned to Union Correctional. (T 282-283, 334-335). Apparently, Scott's counsel opted for the latter, but failed to assure his return.

hearing that he had a few more brief questions for Mr. Selvig (T 281-82), the prosecutor returned to the witness stand. However, Ms. Anderson refused to conduct the continued direct examination of the witness. (T 355). Undersigned counsel then cross-examined Mr. Selvig briefly and released him as a witness. (T 356-365). When asked if she was going to present any other witnesses, Ms. Anderson again claimed that she was unable to represent Scott. (T 365-366). The trial court afforded the state the opportunity to call witnesses, which it declined to do (T 367-368), and then recessed to allow Ms. Anderson an opportunity to communicate with her office prior to making any closing argument. (T 367-368). Ultimately, Ms. Anderson again refused to participate, and Mr. Selvig gave a closing argument before the hearing concluded. (T 370).

On March 13, 1996, a month after the hearing, Scott's counsel filed a Motion For Reconsideration of the Denial of Motion For Continuance. (R 1467-1511). The state responded with exhibits that rebutted counsel's continued and repeated assertions regarding both the existence and nature of the alleged scheduling conflict for February 15, 1996. Those exhibits included a motion filed by Ms. Corey, Rickey Roberts' attorney, on February 9, 1996, which requested that the time set aside for the original transport hearing of February 16 be used to argue Robert's request to expedite the evidentiary hearing currently set for March 22, 1996:

WHEREFORE, Mr. Roberts respectfully requests that the Court grant a hearing on Mr. Roberts' emergency request for expedited hearing at the time previously set for hearing on Mr. Robert's motion to transport, February

16, 1996, at 9:00 a.m.

(R 1524-1537).

(R 1518). As demonstrated from this pleading, the hearing scheduled for February 16 in Maryland did not possess the importance Mr. McClain attached to it. The 14-page transcript from that hearing further belies his claim, as only a brief mention was made of their desire to expedite the later hearing:

[excerpt if helpful]

As noted at the outset of this claim, the legal issue presented in this argument is whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. McClain's motion to continuance the February 14-15 hearing. The appropriate legal standard on appeal is as follows:

"While death penalty cases command [the Court's] closest scrutiny, it is still the obligation of an appellate court to review with caution the exercise of experienced discretion by a trial judge in matters such as a motion for a continuance." Cooper v. State, 336 So. 2d 1133, 1138 (Fla. 1976); <u>see also</u> Rose v. State, 461 So. 2d 84, 87 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 471 U.S. 1143, 105 S. Ct. 2689, 86 L. Ed. 2d 706 (1985). The denial of a motion for continuance should not be reversed unless there has been a palpable abuse of discretion; this abuse must clearly and affirmatively appear in the record. Magill v. <u>State</u>, 386 So. 2d 1188 (Fla.1980), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 450 U.S. 927, 101 S. Ct. 1384, 67 L. Ed. 2d 359 (1981).

<u>Geralds v. State</u>, 674 So. 2d 96, 99 (Fla. 1996).

Scott cannot make that showing. Mr. McClain established no good-faith need for a continuance of the February 14-15 hearing. Jennifer Corey represented Rickey Roberts. Even if Mr. McClain

were co-equal or lead counsel, Ms. Corey could have represented Roberts at the February 16 hearing in Maryland on a motion to transport, and she could have pursued an expedited hearing on Roberts' postconviction motion. Moreover, Mr. McClain could have left at the end of Scott's hearing on February 15 to attend Robert's February 16 hearing. Scott's case had been on remand for six months and needed to be resolved expeditiously. Absent a goodfaith basis for a continuance, the trial court properly denied his request. Mr. McClain made a willful decision not to attend the evidentiary hearing and not to ensure his client's presence at the evidentiary hearing, in total defiance of the trial court's ruling. Such contemptuous behavior should not be countenanced by this Court. Cf. Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363, 1369 (Fla. 1995) (determining that defendant's desire to be represented by particular counsel does not take precedent over the fair administration of justice). See also Landry v. State, 562 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (finding that trial court has discretion to refuse request for continuance from a defendant whose bad faith and dilatory behavior has been established); United States v. Gates, 557 F.2d 1086 (5th Cir. 1977) (same).

And even if Mr. McClain's presence in Maryland took precedence over Scott's hearing, Ms. Anderson should have been prepared to continue the hearing. She had been co-counsel for quite some time and had been actively involved in Scott's case. Under the circumstances, it was highly inappropriate for Mr. McClain to order Ms. Anderson's silence, and highly inappropriate for Ms. Anderson

to oblige. Her self-imposed claim of ineffectiveness was a blatant disregard of the trial court's authority and, as well, should not be countenanced. Given both counsel's contemptuous behavior and their failure to assure Mr. Scott's appearance, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding the hearing. See Carter v. State, 469 So. 2d 775, 781 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (finding no abuse of discretion in denial of motion for continuance as evidence of counsel's knowledge of the case belied claims of unpreparedness); Espinosa v. State, 589 So. 2d 887, 893 (Fla. 1991) (upholding denial of request for continuance where counsel's unpreparedness for penalty phase was result of his own actions).

Even assuming, however, that the trial court should have catered to counsels' schedules, there was no harm to Scott by its failure to do so. See Richardson v. State, 604 So. 2d 1107, 1108-1109 (Fla. 1992) (holding that erroneous denial for continuance was harmless given that the precluded evidence, if presented, would not have changed the outcome of the proceedings given the overwhelming evidence of guilt). Although not challenged anywhere in this appeal, the trial court ultimately rejected appellant's Brady claim on the merits:

It is clear and without doubt that the defense had notice of all three [allegedly withheld pieces of evidence]. The State's Memorandum of February 14th is correct and incorporated herein. There is no evidence, by affidavit or otherwise, that Dixon or Coffin ever made a written or recorded statement during the time frame prior to the trial.

This record demonstrates that there is no concealment, no failure to disclose.

(R 1851). Since the record unequivocally established that the state did not commit a <u>Brady</u> violation, appellant was not prejudiced by his counsel's "inability" to proceed with the evidentiary hearing on February 14. (R 1851).

In order to establish that a <u>Brady</u> violation occurred, appellant was required to prove

(1) that the Government possessed evidence favorable to the defendant (including impeachment evidence); (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4)that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Hegwood v. State, 575 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991). Irrespective of the testimony of George Barrs, Dexter Coffin, Robert Dixon, Dr. Cuevas or Mr. Nute, the record conclusively demonstrated that all of the information, i.e., alleged statements by Coffin or Dixon and the medical examiner's photograph, was available to Scott. (R 1164-1168). Consequently, Scott's "inability" to present the testimony of his witnesses was harmless error since the Brady claim could not have been established. Richardson, 604 SO. 2d at 1108-09.

With respect to the first alleged <u>Brady</u> material, a statement by Dexter Coffin, the record establishes that Scott's trial, George Barrs, was aware of the fact that Coffin allegedly made a statement to corrections officer Captain Donnely. 16 This information was contained in a deposition of Detective Collins taken on March 15, 1979. The deposition was filed in open court on the first day of Scott's trial on October 1, 1979. (T 190, 192). The deposition was taken by the attorney for Richard Kondian and is contained in the record on appeal from Scott's first evidentiary hearing in Case no. (T 138-139, 191). The deposition testimony was as follows:

[Question]: "[D]o you know the names of any other persons to whom Richard Kondian is alleged to have given a statement in regard to this incident? There were two people."

"Answer: There were two people in the county jail that were in his cell. One that I know I believe was Kenneth Budlong and the other was Dexter Coffin."

(T 201) (quoting deposition of Detective Collins at 19). Consequently the record is unrefutable that Scott's attorney was aware of the fact that Kondian may have talked to Dexter Coffin about this case. Because Scott's attorney had such notice and therefore equal access to any potential information, there was no Brady violation. Hegwood, 575 So. 2d at 172 (finding no Brady violation where defense had equal to witness); Provenzano v. State, 616 So. 2d 428, 430 (Fla. 1993)(same); Melendez v. State, 612 So. 2d 1366, 1367-1368 (Fla. 1993)(same).

The second <u>Brady</u> violation involves an alleged statement by Robert Dixon. Again the record is unrefutable that Scott was aware

¹⁶ The state was not interested in speaking to Coffin unless he was an eyewitness to the crime. Coffin had a reputation for dishonesty and the state would not interested in any information he claims to have possessed. (T 192-193, 196-197).

of Dixon's existence. At the evidentiary hearing below, Scott's counsel presented to defense witness Ken Selvig, a police report¹⁷ which contained Dixon's name. (T 157, 169). Regarding the contents of police report, Mr. Selvig testified as follows:

"In the early morning hours of Wednesday, December 5th, a subject Dixon was staying at the Jolly Roger Motel on Fort Lauderdale beach. At this time he was invited to leave the state of Florida, possible heading to California with the subjects Rick and Sunshine;" that's reference to Rick Kondian and Paul and Valerie. That reference is to Paul Scott."

(T 207). (Quoting from police report). The remainder of Dixon's statement contained in the report refers to the activities of Kondian, Scott, and Valerie once they left Florida. Dixon's name was also appears on the state's witness list which was also provided to counsel prior to trial. Since Scott was well aware of the fact that Robert Dixon may have information regarding the facts of this case no <u>Brady</u> violation occurred. <u>Heqwood</u>, 575 So. 2d at 172; <u>Provenzano v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d at 428, <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 612 So. 2d at 1367-1368.

Finally the record also is unrefutable that Scott was well aware of the existence of the picture of the circle of blood. The record reveals that Scott's attorney, George Barrs, filed a motion in limine on September 26, 1979 in order to preclude the presentation of a number of photographs taken from the scene. The contact sheets referred to at that hearing were presented at the

¹⁷ See defense exhibit 1. (T 206).

evidentiary hearing as defense composite exhibit 8. (T 241). 18 Included in those photographs is the picture of the circle of blood. (R 1267-1278, T 237-247). Again the record conclusively demonstrates that no Brady violation occurred. Scott's attorney was well aware of the existence of the picture, as counsel attempted to have the picture excluded from the trial. See Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, 250 (Fla. 1995)(rejecting Brady claim where record undisputedly demonstrates alleged withheld photographs were presented at deposition attended by defense counsel). Since the record conclusively establishes that Scott's attorney had sufficient notice or knowledge of all the alleged evidence, there can be no prejudice regarding the "inability" to present any witnesses.

Finally appellant is unable to demonstrate that the photograph was material under <u>Brady</u>. This Court has defined "materiality" in the following manner:

Not all evidence in the possession of the State must be disclosed to the defense under <u>Brady</u>. Evidence is only required to be disclosed if it is material and exculpatory. Evidence is material only if "there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>United States v. Baqley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 682, 105 S. CT. 3375, 3383-84, 87 L. ED. 2D 481 (1985). In making this determination,

¹⁸ The state ask this Court to take judicial notice of exhibit C attached to the response in <u>Scott v. Mounts</u>, Case No. 87, 174. Therein is a property receipt from the Boca Raton Police department lists as evidence a blood stain of a circle of blood.

the evidence must be considered in the context of the entire record. <u>United States v. Aqurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97, 112, 96 S. CT. 2392, 2401-02, 49 L. ED. 2D 342 (1976).

<u>Cruse v. State</u>, 588 So. 2d 983, 987 (Fla. 1991). The record clearly demonstrates that Scott cannot met this burden. The photograph of the circle of blood would have been anything but exculpatory. To the contrary, the photograph would have been highly incriminating of appellant's participation in the brutal beating of Mr. Alessi. Prior to trial, appellant unsuccessfully attempted to suppress statements he made to the police. In those statements, appellant admitted to striking Mr. Alessi with a champagne bottle. (R 123, 129-130, 1280). 19 To the extent appellant is correct in asserting that a champagne bottle was one of the weapons used to kill Mr. Alessi, his statements admitting that he used that bottle as a weapon would have further inculpated him in the crime. Consequently appellant has failed to establish the requisite materiality prong under Brady. See Cruse, 588 So. 2d at 986 (finding state's failure to disclose names of doctors not to be in violation of Brady given that there findings would have contradicted the defense and supported the state's theory of the case).

In conclusion, any error in failing to grant Scott any further continuance was harmless. Irrespective of any potential witness's testimony, the record conclusively demonstrates that appellant had

v. State, 513 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 1987) and police report of Collins attached as exhibit D in Scott v. Mounts, Case no. 87,174

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